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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	YEVGENIY P. SHASTITKO,


                    Deceased Employee, 

ANNA SHASTITKO,

RADIMIR SHASTITKO (minor child),

SIMON SHASTITKO (minor child),

and THOMPSON VALLEY 

FUNERAL HOME,

                               Claimants,       

v.

MTI, INC., KONSTANTIN MISYUK, VIKTOR MISYUK, 

VALENTINA MISYUK, and 

ELENA (MISYUK) MEDVEDEV, 
Uninsured    Respondents, and

STATE OF ALASKA, WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BENEFITS GUARANTY FUND,

                                Respondent. 
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200913721

AWCB Decision No. 13-0027
Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

On March 19, 2013


Anna Shastitko’s December 2, 2009 claim for death benefits for herself and Yevgeniy Shastitko’s surviving minor children Simon Shastitko and Radimir Shastitko (together with Anna Shastitko, hereafter referred to as Claimants) and Thompson Valley Funeral Home’s (Thompson) May 26, 2011 claim for payment for services were heard on August 2, 2012 and August 3, 2012 in Fairbanks, Alaska.  The hearing date was selected on June 10, 2011.  Attorney Robert Beconovich appeared and represented Claimants.  Attorney James Hackett appeared and represented putative employers MTI, Inc. and Konstantin Misyuk, Viktor Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev (together, MTI).   Attorney Toby Steinberger appeared telephonically and represented the Workers’ Compensation Guaranty Fund (Fund).  No one appeared on Thompson’s behalf.

Anna Shastitko testified telephonically with the aid of Russian translator Julia Abdybekova.  Konstantin Misyuk appeared and testified.  Viktor Misyuk and Valentina Misyuk testified telephonically with the aid of Russian translators Elena Glinyany (August 2, 2012) and Valentina Medvedev (August 3, 2012).  Viktor Misyuk and Valentina Misyuk also testified by deposition taken on July 7, 2012.  Elena Medvedev testified telephonically.  Velma Thomas appeared and testified on the fund’s behalf.  The record was held open to receive transcripts of Viktor Misyuk and Valentina Misyuk’s July 7, 2010 depositions, the parties’ post-hearing briefs, and Claimants’ Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs, objections thereto, and Claimants’ reply.  The record closed when the panel next met and deliberated, on January 29, 2013.  

ISSUES

MTI and the fund contend Yevgeniy Shastitko was not MTI’s employee at the time of the accident which caused his death and contend Shastitko was instead an independent contractor.  They seek an order denying Claimants’ claims for death benefits and Thompson’s claim for payment for services based upon a lack of an employee-employer relationship between Yevgeniy Shastitko and MTI.  Claimants contend Yevgeniy Shastitko was MTI’s employee at the time of his death and assert they are entitled to death benefits, payment of Thompson’s invoice for burial services, penalty, interest, and attorney’s fees and costs.

1)  On July 12, 2009, was Yevgeniy Shastitko an “employee” employed by MTI, an “employer”?
If Yevgeniy Shastitko is determined to have been MTI’s employee on July 12, 2009, MTI contends Konstantin Misyuk and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev should not be held jointly and severally liable for benefits payable, as they were MTI officers in name only and had no meaningful part in the corporation’s daily business.  The fund contends AS 23.30.255(a)’s express language states Konstantin Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev, as president, treasurer and secretary respectively, are jointly and severally liable for all benefits payable.  The fund further contends AS 23.30.075(b) makes them liable, and additionally makes Viktor Misyuk jointly and severally liable as he had authority to insure MTI on July 12, 2009.

2)   Are Konstantin Misyuk, Viktor Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev jointly and severally liable with MTI for all benefits payable arising from the July 12, 2009 accident?

If Yevgeniy Shastitko was MTI’s employee at the time of his death, Claimants contend they are entitled to death benefits in accordance with AS 23.30.215.  MTI and the fund do not contest Claimants would be entitled to death benefits upon a finding of an employee-employer relationship.  The fund requests any benefit award be subject to a Social Security offset, per AS 23.30.225.

3)  Are Claimants entitled to death benefits?  If so, in what amount?

Thompson filed an invoice for funeral services it provided on Yevgeniy Shastitko’s behalf.  MTI and the fund do not contest the invoice, but contend because Yevgeniy Shastitko was not MTI’s employee at the time of his death, no funeral expenses are payable under the Act.

4)  Is Thompson entitled to payment for its services? 

If Yevgeniy Shastitko was MTI’s employee at the time of his death, Claimants contend they are entitled to attorney’s fees and costs.  MTI did not object to Claimants’ supplemental fee and cost affidavit.  The fund does not object to Mr. Beconovich’s hourly rate or hours worked, but contends his claimed travel costs are excessive.

5) Are Claimants entitled to an attorney’s fee and cost award?  If so, in what amount?

FINDINGS OF FACT

The following facts and factual conclusions are established by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On September 23, 2002, MTI filed its Articles of Incorporation with the Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development.  Konstantin Misyuk, identified as “incorporator,” signed them.  (Articles of Incorporation, September 18, 2002; Fund’s Ex. A at 4-5).

2) On May 9, 2003, the Department of Labor, Employment Security Tax Division, approved MTI’s application to exclude its corporate officers as employees, effective January 3, 2003. (Voluntary Election of Coverage for Excluded Employment, May 9, 2003; Fund’s Ex. B at 2).

3) Konstantin Misyuk began working for the IBEW as an apprentice wireman in August 2003.  He has worked consistently as an IBEW wireman since, and is now a journeyman.  (Work History Report for Konstantin Misyuk, July 16, 2012; MTI Ex. 1).

4) MTI’s 2004 and 2006 biennial reports filed with the Alaska Department of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing, list Konstantin Misyuk as President, Viktor Misyuk as Vice President, Elena Misyuk as Secretary and Valentina Misyuk as Treasurer.  (Biennial Reports, January 27, 2004 and December 30, 2005; Fund’s Ex. A at 7-9).

5) In 2006, MTI paid Yevgeniy Shastitko bi-weekly and withheld federal and state taxes from his paychecks.  (MTI’s Notice of Intent to Rely, July 12, 2012, at #0442-0472).

6) For tax year 2006, Yevgeniy Shastitko received a W-2 wage and tax statement from MTI showing he earned $15,380.00 in wages.  (2006 W-2 form; MTI’s Notice of Intent to Rely, July 12, 2012, at #0515).

7) In 2007, MTI paid Yevgeniy Shastitko bi-weekly and withheld federal and state taxes from his paychecks through June 6, 2007.  Beginning June 23, 2007, MTI issued him regular paychecks, which identified specific driving jobs and did not withhold federal or state taxes. While the amounts differed, MTI paid Yevgeniy Shastitko every month in 2007. (MTI’s Notice of Intent to Reply, July 12, 2012, at #0473-0487).

8)  On September 17, 2007, MTI’s corporate officers held a special meeting to classify all MTI drivers as independent contractors.  Meeting minutes signed by all four officers, Konstantin, Viktor, Valentina and Elena Misyuk, state:

Special Meeting of Choosing to incorporate 1099 tax form structure

Beginning today, the drivers will receive 1099 tax forms at the end of the year and will be treated as contract laborers as permitted in the state of Alaska.  The drivers will be paid based on job performed and will have no permanent continuous assignment.  (Minutes of MTI Special Meeting, September 17, 2007; Fund’s Ex. D at 2).

9) For tax year 2007, Yevgeniy Shastitko received a 1099-MISC tax form from MTI showing he earned $24,124.04.  (2007 1099 form; Fund’s Ex. E at 1).

10) For tax year 2007, Yevgeniy Shastitko received a W-2 wage and tax statement from MTI showing he earned $6,500.00 in wages.  (2007 W-2 form; Fund’s Ex. E at 2).

11) In 2008, MTI paid Yevgeniy Shastitko regular pay checks, which identified specific driving jobs and did not withhold federal or state taxes.  While the amounts differed, MTI paid Yevgeniy Shastitko every month in 2008.  (MTI’s Notice of Intent to Rely, July 12, 2012, at #0124-0140).

12) For tax year 2008, Yevgeniy Shastitko received a 1099-MISC tax form from MTI showing $33,106.78 in “nonemployee compensation.”  (2008 1099 form; Fund’s Ex. E at 1).

13) For tax year 2008, Yevgeniy and Anna Shastitko completed IRS Schedule C (Profit or Loss from Business), listing gross income of $33,107.00 (as reported on form 1099) and net profits of $8,351.00.  (Shastitko Tax Return, 2008).

14) On December 8, 2008, Valentina Misyuk signed a “Work Statement” addressed to Department of Health and Social Services Case Worker Janet Romberg on Yevgeniy Shastitko’s behalf to support his application for Denali KidCare health insurance for his family.  Valentina identified Yevgeniy as an “on-call” truck driver “for 1-2 trips per month.”  (Dept. of Health and Social Services Work Statement, December 8, 2008; Fund’s Ex. D at 4).

15) In an undated letter addressed to “Janet Romberg, Case #05507342,” Konstantin Misyuk verified Yevgeniy Shastitko was an MTI driver:

I Konstantin Misyuk Owner of MTI, Inc. do confirm that Yevgeniy Shastitko does work for MTI, Inc, but on call only.  If you have any question (sic) feel free to call me on my cell [number redacted] or call Valentina at [number redacted].  (Konstantin Misyuk letter to Janet Romberg, undated; Fund’s Ex. D at 3).

16) From January 2009, until Shastitko’s death in July 2009, MTI issued him regular pay checks, which identified specific driving jobs and did not withhold federal or state taxes.  While the amounts differed, MTI paid Shastitko every month until his death except March and April.  (MTI’s Notice of Intent to Rely, June 10, 2010).

17) On May 12, 2009, Viktor Misyuk opened a new MTI business account with Wells Fargo Bank.  On the application, Viktor Misyuk identified himself as “Co-owner” with sole signatory authority.  (Business Account Application, May 12, 2009, Fund’s Ex. C at 1-8).

18) On May 13, 2009, MTI faxed an Addendum to the Certificate of Authority to Wells Fargo, adding Elena Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk, and Konstantin Misyuk as authorized signers.  (Addendum to Certificate of Authority, May 13, 2009; Fund’s Ex. C at 9).

19) On July 12, 2009, Yevgeniy Shastitko was killed when the truck he was driving for MTI rolled over and landed in a ditch in British Columbia, Canada.  A co-driver in the sleeping compartment at the time of the accident sustained minor injuries.  Shastitko had been hauling a load of produce from Tacoma, Washington to Alaska for MTI.  (Coroner’s Report, August 16, 2010).

20) On July 28, 2009, Stephanie Collins of Fairbanks Funeral Home and Crematory sent a letter to MTI:

After speaking with Elena, from MTI, Inc., a payment arrangement has been made for the funeral arrangements of Yevgeniy Shastitko.  MTI, Inc. is agreeing to pay Fairbanks Funeral Home monthly installments of $500.00 beginning on August 1, 2009.  The total amount due for his funeral bill is $3,641.00.

If after reading the above statement you are in agreement with his (sic) payment arrangement, please sign and date below.

On July 28, 2009, Elena Misyuk signed and dated the letter.  (Fairbanks Funeral Home & Crematory letter, July 28, 2009; MTI’s Notice of Intent to Rely, July 12, 2012, at #0439).

21) On July 29, 2009, Thompson issued an invoice for professional services for Yevgeniy Shastitko’s death totaling $5,185.06.  (Thompson invoice, July 29, 2009; MTI’s Notice of Intent to Rely, July 12, 2012, at #0441).

22) At the time of his death, Yevgeniy and Anna Shastitko had two children together: Radimir Shastitko, born March 30, 2006; and Simon Shastitko, born June 24, 2009, just three weeks before Yevgeniy’s death.  (Anna Shastitko testimony).

23) On August 5, 2009, Elena Misyuk, as MTI’s Corporate Secretary, sent workers’ compensation investigator Sandy Stuller a letter:

This is a reply to your letter dated July 30, 2009.  You are seeking proof of Workers (sic) Compensation insurance coverage as required in the state of Alaska.  The employees that work for the company are corporate officers and filed a voluntary election of coverage for excluded employment with the Department of Labor back in 2003.  As that election was approved, we are not required to obtain Workers (sic) Comp insurance for Corporate Officers.  I am attaching a copy of the Voluntary Election approved form for your records.  Greatly appreciate your consideration and prompt attention to this matter.  If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to contact me at 907-895-2258.  (Elena Misyuk letter to Sandy Stuller, August 5, 2009; Fund’s Ex. D at 1).

24) On October 21, 2009, attorney Gary Stapp wrote a letter on MTI’s behalf to workers’ compensation officer Ted Burkhart:

Your letter of October 2, 2009 was just forwarded to my attention for a response.  Since Mr. Shastiko (sic) was not an employee of MTI, Inc., at the time of his death, I see no basis for the demand for benefits as indicated on the Workers’ Compensation Claim form.

As an act of kindness, out of concern for the family, and for no other purpose, my client MTI, Inc., has offered to cover reasonable and necessary funeral expenses for the deceased.  That generous offer was rejected.

Simply put, Mr. Shastiko (sic) was an independent contractor, and in no way entitled to any “benefits” as an employee.

While my client feels sympathy for the family’s loss, the financial obligations as indicated do not exist.  (Gary Stapp letter to Ted Burkhart, October 21, 2009).

25) On December 2, 2009, Anna Shastitko filed a workers’ compensation claim on behalf of herself and her two children for death benefits, penalty, interest, attorney’s fees and costs.  (Workers’ Compensation Claim, December 2, 2009).

26) On December 30, 2009, MTI filed its answer to Anna Shastitko’s claim, denying all benefits based on its assertion Yevgeniy Shastitko was an independent contractor at the time of his death.  (MTI’s Answer, December 30, 2009).

27) For tax year 2009, Anna Shastitko completed IRS Schedule C (Profit or Loss from Business) on Yevgeniy Shastitko’s behalf listing $17,400.00 in gross income.  (Shastitko Tax Return, 2009).

28) On June 1, 2011, Thompson filed a workers’ compensation claim for $5,185.06 for services it provided immediately after Yevgeniy Shastitko’s death.  (Thompson claim, May 26, 2011).

29) On June 8, 2011, the fund filed its answer to Thompson’s claim, denying payment because there had been no finding an employee-employer relationship existed at the time of Yevgeniy Shastitko’s death, nor had there been a finding MTI was in default of a Board order requiring payments.  (Fund’s Answer, June 6, 2011).

30) Anna Shastitko credibly testified about her relationship with Yevgeniy Shastitko and her understanding of his relationship with MTI and Viktor and Valentina Misyuk.  Yevgeniy left on an MTI driving job when their son Simon was one week old.  He travelled to Anchorage and then to Washington hauling a fish load for MTI.  He was returning from Washington to Alaska with a produce load when the accident occurred.  It was common for Yevgeniy to dispatch from different areas, and sometimes he would end up driving to different places than he had initially expected.  She communicated with him on his last trip by telephone.  Valentina Misyuk came to her house to inform her of her husband’s death.  She has not received any compensation from MTI or anyone associated with MTI for her husband’s death.  She received Yevgeniy’s final paycheck from MTI after his death.  She never saw her husband drive any truck other than an MTI truck.  He did not pay for truck repairs or fuel on his trips.  He used an MTI company credit card to pay for gasoline.  He did not pay for insurance.  He paid for his own food and slept in the truck when traveling for MTI.  She did not know if MTI ever reimbursed Yevgeniy for his food expenses.  (Anna Shastitko).

31) Anna Shastitko left Delta Junction about a month after Yevgeniy’s funeral and moved to Fairbanks.  She then moved to Vancouver, Washington to live with her parents.  In August 2009, she and her sons began receiving Social Security survivor benefits of $736.00 each per month.  She has since remarried and had another child, and no longer receives Social Security survivor benefits, though Radimir and Simon now receive $962.20 each per month.  (Id.)
32) When asked whether Yevgeniy had a side-job repairing cars, Anna Shastitko testified “he was good at repairing vehicles,” but she did not know if he ever repaired vehicles for his friends for pay.  (Id.)
33) When asked about how she and Yevgeniy prepared their taxes, Anna Shastitko testified Yevgeniy’s English was better than hers, but he explained their tax paperwork to her.  She would have known if he had declared himself self-employed.  (Id.)

34) Yevgeniy had a relative named Pavel Gravcenka, but Anna Shastitko did not remember if he accompanied Yevgeniy on MTI trips.  During his MTI work, Yevgeniy would sometimes take weekly trips and sometimes would have long periods at home.  He may have refused to accept driving jobs for MTI if he was sick or busy, but he only worked for MTI.  He consulted with Viktor concerning payment for driving jobs.  (Id.)

35) Konstantin Misyuk credibly testified about his association with MTI and his recollection of Yevgeniy Shastitko’s work for MTI.  He is Viktor and Valentina Misyuk’s oldest son and he and his sister Elena were appointed as MTI officers to help their parents with English translation.  At one point Viktor, a truck driver himself was having difficulty finding drivers, so Konstantin helped him establish contracts with drivers.  Konstantin drove trucks for his father before he was married in 2003 and was Yevgeniy Shastitko’s close friend and often accompanied him on drives to Washington.  Konstantin also knew Pavel, who was close to Yevgeniy.  Konstantin was accepted to the IBEW apprenticeship program in 2003 and moved to Fairbanks to work for the IBEW.  He has worked for the IBEW in Fairbanks consistently since August 2003.  After August 2003, Konstantin’s only involvement with MTI was occasional translation for his parents.  He provided an example of a letter Valentina requested he draft in 2008 on behalf of Anna and Yevgeniy Shastitko who “wanted a letter for a welfare application.”  Though he is listed as an owner on MTI documents, he testified he was not active in the corporation after 2003.  He did not have authority to obtain insurance or make any other major decisions “without my parents’ approval.”  While he had check signing authority, he never signed any checks because he did not have access to them.  He has never been involved in Viktor and Valentina’s new corporation in South Carolina.  At the time of Yevgeniy’s accident in 2009, Konstantin did not believe he was authorized to act for the corporation.  He had little knowledge of legal terms, and was unaware he should have removed his name from the corporate officer list.  If he had known, he would have removed his name in 2003.  (Konstantin Misyuk).

36) When asked about MTI’s decision to change all employees to independent contractors, Konstantin testified his mother Valentina had told him “they were changing to 1099s” and “told me to sign.”  He was not present at the corporate meeting where the decision was made to identify all employees as independent contractors.  (Id.).
37) When asked about the May 12, 2009 Addendum to Certificate of Authority on the Wells Fargo business account, he testified he did not know if the signatures were Elena’s or his mother’s, and would not recognize their signatures because “it has been a long time since I’ve seen my mother’s signature.  Same with my father.”  (Id.)
38) Valentina Misyuk credibly testified about her MTI role and her communications with Yevgeniy Shastitko before he died.  Yevgeniy Shastitko asked her in June 2007 to issue him a 1099 form instead of a W-2 form because “there were too many deductions for taxes.”  She told him the other drivers received 1099s and that she would have to discuss the issue of whether to change Shastitko’s status with Viktor Misyuk.  Valentina, Viktor and Yevgeniy were the only MTI workers who received W-2s, and all others received 1099s.  Victor and Valentina had decided in 2006 to receive W-2s so they would be eligible for unemployment benefits.  Yevgeniy Shastitko “wanted to do that too.”  When the decision was made in 2007 to change everyone from W-2s to 1099s, it did not affect the way the business ran or MTI’s day-to-day operations.  (Valentina Misyuk).

39) In 2009, Valentina “did the books” for MTI, paid bills, completed payroll, and did “whatever was needed.”  MTI had insurance to travel into Canada, including a bond covering the truck Shastitko was driving when he was killed.  She communicated with the insurance company to collect a settlement for the truck damage and Elena helped her with English.  Elena communicated with the Canadian police at the accident scene.  (Id.).

40) Valentina was the MTI corporate treasurer, though Konstantin and Elena also had check signing authority.  She relied on Elena in particular for help with English.  The MTI business account at Wells Fargo had space for four names identifying who had signature authority, and she questioned why Konstantin would be on the form because “he wasn’t part of it anymore.”  Konstantin was deleted from the accounts because he asked to be, and he was not an active corporate participant in 2009.  When asked about the account opened in May 2009, which included Konstantin as an authorized signer, Valentina indicated she did not remember the account and did not recall signing it.  It was unlikely Konstantin would recognize her signature because he “hasn’t been a part of the company since 2003.”  (Id.).

41) Valentina Misyuk also testified by deposition:

Q.
Did there come a time later when Mr. Shastitko asked not to get W2s, but to get 1099s?

…

A. I explain him – I explain him it’s not I do these deductions.  That is how computer system doing it that is like taxes.  That’s it.  He wanted to know about other drivers working for us, how they pay their taxes, and we told him that all of them have 1099.  Okay.  He said after that, okay, if everybody has 199 -- 1099, I want to have it, too.

Q.
Did Mr. Shastitko complain about the deduction?

A.
Yes, he was -- very often, almost always, he was unhappy with the deduction. . . .   I ask him why are you working like that, that my husband with -- that is calling you from time to time and you know that we have contract, and we have to deliver and to load and like some precisely time.  And very often you replied on my husband’s call, oh, I can’t go; I will not go; I don’t need money now.  Do you have additional job, I asked him.  One time he told me that I am taking care of my uncle.  He has some kind of mentally retarded problems. . . .  And, in addition, I repair cars on my own. . . .  In addition, like third job, I repair cars on my -- at my spare time.  (Valentina Misyuk deposition, July 7, 2010, at 13-14).

42) Often drivers would report to Valentina and Viktor their concerns about other drivers, including speeding violations.  Valentina testified when she visited Yevgeniy Shastitko’s co-driver after the accident, he told her he had intended to call Viktor after that trip to request he not be sent on another trip with Shastitko because Shastitko was speeding.  Valentina also testified Viktor had spoken to Shastitko and “ask[ed] him to stop the speeding.”  (Id. at 28-31, 43).

43) MTI entered into written agreements with drivers which identified them as independent contractors.  She clarified these agreements were “only for owner/operators with their own truck and trailer.”  (Id. at 70).

44) When asked why MTI would prefer either a two-driver team or an individual driver on a particular trip, Valentina testified, “Talking about this person who lost his life, Shastitko, he preferred himself to drive on his own by himself and he asked my husband that please let me do it alone.  I would rather drive alone.  I don’t want to have any companion next to me.”  (Id. at 101).

45) Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev credibly testified about her role as an MTI officer.  She helped Viktor and Valentina with English when they asked, but “my parents ran the business.”  She moved to South Carolina in May 2008 and was not active in the business thereafter.  She would “help out with insurance papers” when asked.  Konstantin became inactive in MTI’s operations long before Elena moved to South Carolina in 2008.  She had never spoken to Yevgeniy Shastitko and had no involvement in his MTI pay negotiations.  She is now an officer of MTI, LLC, a South Carolina corporation.  MTI, LLC does not own any trucks, but Viktor drives.  Elena’s brother Igor (another son of Viktor and Valentina) owns his own truck and drives for MTI, LLC.  (Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev).

46) Elena Medvedev was not involved in the September 2007 discussion to “go to 1099s.”  She remembers her parents seeing an attorney to set up the corporation.  She spoke to the attorney over the phone and interpreted for her parents.  They were told they “needed four officers, so I got added.”  She testified she was attending the University of Alaska in 2007 and lived and worked in Anchorage.  She received a business administration degree in 2007.  (Id.).
47) When asked about the July 28, 2009 letter concerning the agreement with Thompson, Elena Medvedev testified she signed the letter because “my mom asked me to type up a letter.”  After the July 2009 accident, she “helped with the insurance issues and the Canadian police.”  When asked if, as an MTI officer she was required legally to do something, would she take steps to do it, she replied, “after I asked my parents first.  It was their business.”  (Id.).
48) Elena Medvedev helped Viktor complete her parents’ tax returns because she had learned about specific deductions truckers use, including costs of lodging, motels, and personal cell phone.  She had taken a class addressing the difference between an employee and an independent contractor and decided MTI had independent contractors, not employees.  (Id.).
49) Viktor Misyuk credibly testified he spoke to Yevgeniy Shastitko concerning his desire to receive a 1099 form rather than a W-2.  “[W]e were in the car together and he told me he wanted to switch to 1099.  I told him I don’t know what that means, but if that’s what you want, that’s your right.”  Viktor Misyuk did not discuss specific deductions with Yevgeniy, and “he said he wanted to do it because he wants to get more money.”  Every time Viktor Misyuk spoke to Yevgeniy about specific driving jobs Yevgeniy asked how much he would pay.  Yevgeniy had at times turned down jobs if Viktor would not pay enough.  (Viktor Misyuk).

50) Viktor testified at deposition about MTI’s system for hiring drivers on specific jobs.  MTI kept a running list of drivers, all of whom were Russian and held commercial driver’s licenses.  When need for a particular driving job was identified, Viktor would contact the listed drivers to negotiate availability and payment.  The drivers preferred this hiring method because “they didn’t want to be on constant schedule. They wanted to drive and then to have a break, to drive and to have a break.  So it’s like very flexible schedule.”  Each agreement was “for one trip only.  Every time for one trip because it was not constant, like stable, permanent job every time.”  He further testified before the July 2009 accident “I change everything on my truck, all tires and whatever might be changed, so truck was in good condition.”  He further testified Yevgeniy Shastitko had a regular side business buying damaged cars, repairing them and reselling them.  (Viktor Misyuk deposition, July 7, 2010, at 32-35, 24).

51) MTI provided a company credit card to drivers for fuel, but drivers were responsible for payment of fines for all driving violations and maintaining their commercial driver’s licenses.  (Id., at 80).

52) Viktor Misyuk further testified at deposition:

Q.
Did Mr. Shastitko ever take helpers with him, that he asked to go with him; that you did not ask to go with him?

A.
What we knew that he – that he often took his wife, his child, his friends with him and in this case we knew that he will not be driving alone.

Q.
You -- but when he -- did he ever take a helper, not his wife and children, with him to Mr. Misyuk’s knowledge?

A.
There were several cases when Mr. Shastitko asked us that I would like to take somebody with him who would help me, and we told him that his is your business, whom you will take and how you will weigh (ph), because you will get a check and then you will pay from your check to your helper.  So that is your business.  You will pay; you decide.

Q.
Did Mr. Shastitko ever turn down jobs offered to him?

A.
It was very often that he turned down this offer and then he was -- his -- an exceptional job was the most often amount of other people.

Q.
Excuse me? I lost that.

A.
Mr. Shastitko very often turned down the offer that he got and it was the most often amount of other people who got the job.  So. . . .

Q.
Is Viktor saying he was the most common driver that Viktor used?


Interpreter:  No he very often refused to drive.  Here or there.  So it was like he was picky, as I can understand.

Q. Okay.  And Viktor would go to his list at that point?

A. Yes, I tried to find another driver.

…

A. Yes, I know about this conversation with my wife because she called me and she asked my advice what to do with Mr. Shastitko, because he was unsatisfied with his present job and he insisted on returning him back.  And I told to my wife, okay, if he’s not satisfied, we will return him back to this position as he worked before.

Q.  Does returning him -- Mr. Shastitko to work as he worked before, does that mean that when Mr. Shastitko first started working as a driver, he was given 1099 forms?

A.  Yes, it means that to return him to 1099 form.

Q.  So if I understand it, the history of forms for Mr. Shastitko started out as 1099s, then went to W2s, and then went back to 1099s.  Is that correct?

A.
Yes.  (Id. at 22-23, 28).

53) Velma Thomas, fund program coordinator credibly testified the Workers’ Compensation Division’s internal database reports when a corporation has filed an executive officer exemption.  No exemption for executive officers was ever filed for MTI.  She worked with adjuster Joanne Pride and Workers’ Compensation Officer Ted Burkhart to prepare a proposed compensation report.  She estimates past death benefits owing to Claimants total approximately $78,500.00, though there may be adjustments for cost-of-living allowances depending on where Anna Shastitko has lived since the July 2009 accident.  (Velma Thomas; Proposed Compensation Report, Fund’s Ex. G).

54) A commercial truck and trailer are valuable equipment and expensive to buy and maintain.  (Experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from the above.)
55) On January 4, 2013, per the parties’ agreement Claimants’ counsel filed a Supplemental Affidavit of Fees claiming $38,403.00 in fees charged at $300.00 per hour and $5,239.87 in costs.  (Supplemental Affidavit of Counsel re: Attorney Fees and Costs, January 3, 2013).

56) On January 15, 2013, the fund filed an opposition to Claimants’ Supplemental Affidavit of Fees, contending the travel costs Claimants’ counsel incurred were unreasonable.  Specifically, the fund contended the cost for Mr. Beconovich to travel to South Carolina in July 2010 for the Misyuks’ depositions was unreasonable, as it was $1,000.00 more than the funds’ counsel’s airfare.  Further, the fund objected to payment for Mr. Beconovich’s travel to Portland, Oregon to consult with “Rasskazova,” an unidentified person.  Finally, the fund objected to Mr. Beconovich’s travel to Vancouver, Washington in December 2011, as it was unnecessary to meet with his client in person.  (Fund’s Opposition to Supplemented Affidavit of Counsel re: Attorney’s Fees and Costs, January 11, 2013).

57) On January 18, 2013, Claimants filed a Reply to the Fund’s Opposition, contending the travel cost to South Carolina was simply what airfare cost at that time, that “Rasskazova” was a Russian speaking attorney who Anna Shastitko had consulted with soon after Yevgeniy’s death, and the trip to Vancouver was necessary due to the language barrier between himself and Anna Shastitko and the subsequent inability to review documents together by telephone.  (Claimants’ Reply to Opposition to Supplemented Affidavit of Counsel re: Attorney’s Fees and Costs, January 18, 2013).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.010. Coverage.  (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment. . . .

AS 23.30.020.  Chapter part of contract of hire. This chapter constitutes part of every contract of hire, express or implied, and every contract of hire shall be construed as an agreement on the part of the employer to pay and on the part of the employee to accept compensation in the manner provided in this chapter for all personal injuries sustained.
Coverage under the workers’ compensation act must arise from a contract of hire, express or implied, and before an employee/employer relationship exists under the Act, an express or implied contract of employment must exist.  Whitney–Fidalgo Seafoods, Inc. v. Beukers, 554 P.2d 250, 252 (Alaska 1976); Childs v. Kalgin Island Lodge, 779 P.2d 310, 313 (Alaska 1989).  The essence of a workers’ compensation system is that it is a mutual arrangement of reciprocal rights between employer and employee, whereby both parties give up and gain certain advantages.  It is from the contract of hire, either express or implicit in the employment relationship, that compensation coverage flows, with the concomitant adjustment of rights and remedies between employer and employee.  Whitney-Fidalgo Seafoods, Inc., 554 P.2d at 252.  When an employee accepts a job with an employer, it is fair that the employee loses the right to sue in tort in exchange for workers’ compensation coverage because the employee knows that employment is being accepted and presumably knows the impact that such acceptance has on the right to sue.  Cluff v. Nana-Marriott, 892 P.2d 164, 174 (Alaska 1995).
AS 23.30.055. Exclusiveness of liability.  The liability of an employer prescribed in AS 23.30.045 is exclusive and in place of all other liability of the employer and any fellow employee to the employee, the employee’s legal representative, husband or wife, parents, dependents, next of kin, and anyone otherwise entitled to recover damages from the employer or fellow employee at law or in admiralty on account of the injury or death.  The liability of the employer is exclusive even if the employee’s claim is barred under AS 23.30.022.  However, if an employer fails to secure payment of compensation as required by this chapter, an injured employee or the employee’s legal representative in case death results from the injury may elect to claim compensation under this chapter, or to maintain an action against the employer at law or in admiralty for damages on account of the injury or death.  In that action, the defendant may not plead as a defense that the injury was caused by the negligence of a fellow servant, or that the employee assumed the risk of the employment, or that the injury was due to the contributory negligence of the employee.  In this section, ‘employer’ includes, in addition to the meaning given in AS 23.30.395, a person who, under AS 23.30.045(a), is liable for or potentially liable for securing payment of compensation.

AS 23.30.075. Employer’s Liability to Pay.

…
(b) If an employer fails to insure and keep insured employees subject to this chapter or fails to obtain a certificate of self-insurance from the division, upon conviction, the court shall impose a fine of $10,000 and may impose a sentence of imprisonment for not more than one year. If an employer is a corporation, all persons who, at the time of the injury or death, had authority to insure the corporation or apply for a certificate of self-insurance, and the person actively in charge of the business of the corporation shall be subject to the penalties prescribed in this subsection and shall be personally, jointly, and severally liable together with the corporation for the payment of all compensation or other benefits for which the corporation is liable under this chapter if the corporation at that time is not insured or qualified as a self-insurer.

AS 23.30.082. Workers’ Compensation Benefits Guaranty Fund.

…
(c) Subject to the provisions of this section, an employee employed by an employer who fails to meet the requirements of AS 23.30.075 and who fails to pay compensation and benefits due to the employee under this chapter may file a claim for payment by the fund. In order to be eligible for payment, the claim form must be filed within the same time, and in the same manner, as a workers’ compensation claim. The fund may assert the same defenses as an insured employer under this chapter….
AS 23.30.120 Presumptions.  In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 
(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.  Id. (Emphasis omitted).  The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a “preliminary link” between his or her injury and the employment.  See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  For injuries occurring after the 2005 amendments to the Act, if the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome at the second step when the employer presents substantial evidence which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 150 at 7 (March 25, 2011).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility is not examined at the second step.  See, e.g., Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-70 (Alaska 1985).  
If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient, the presumption of compensability drops out and the employee must prove his or her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  This means the employee must “induce a belief” in the minds of the fact finders the facts being asserted are probably true.  See Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  In the third step, the evidence is weighed, inferences are drawn from the evidence, and credibility is considered.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g., Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005).

AS 23.30.135. Procedure before the board. (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter. The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees. . . .

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  

Where an employer resists payment of benefits, and a claimant employs an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, an award of attorney fees may be made under 
AS 23.30.145(b).  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007).  In Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986), the Alaska Supreme Court held attorney fee awards under AS 23.30.145(b) should be “both fully compensatory and reasonable so that competent counsel will be available to furnish legal services to injured workers” (emphasis in original). In determining a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b), the board is required to consider the contingency nature of representing injured workers, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, the benefits resulting from the services obtained, the fee customarily charged in the locale for similar services, and the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyer performing the services. Id. at 975.

At the time of Yevgeniy Shastitko’s death, AS 23.30.215 read:

AS 23.30.215. Compensation for Death.  (a) If the injury causes death, the compensation is known as a death benefit and is payable in the following amounts to or for the benefit of the following persons:

(1) reasonable and necessary funeral expenses not exceeding $5,000;

(2) if there is a widow or widower or a child or children of the deceased, the following percentages of the spendable weekly wages of the deceased:

(A) 80 percent for the widow or widower with no children;

(B) 50 percent for the widow or widower with one child and 40 percent for the child;

(C) 30 percent for the widow or widower with two or more children and 70 percent divided equally among the children;

(D) 100 percent for an only child when there is no widow or widower;

(E) 100 percent, divided equally, if there are two or more children and no widow or widower;

(3) if the widow or widower remarries, the widow or widower is entitled to be paid in one sum an amount equal to the compensation to which the widow or widower would otherwise be entitled in the two years commencing on the date of remarriage as full and final settlement of all sums due the widow or widower;

(4) if there is no widow or widower or child or children, then for the support of father, mother, grandchildren, brothers and sisters, if dependent upon the deceased at the time of injury, 42 percent of the spendable weekly wage of the deceased to such beneficiaries, share and share alike, not to exceed $20,000 in the aggregate;

(5) $5,000 to a surviving widow or widower, or equally divided among surviving children of the deceased if there is no widow or widower.

(b) In computing death benefits, the spendable weekly wage of the deceased shall be computed under AS 23.30.220 and shall be paid in accordance with AS 23.30.155 and subject to the weekly maximum limitation in the aggregate as provided in AS 23.30.175 , but the total weekly compensation may not be less than $75 for a widow or widower nor less than $25 weekly to a child or $50 for children.

(c) All questions of dependency shall be determined as of the time of the injury, or death.

(d) Compensation under this chapter to aliens not residents, or about to become nonresidents, of the United States or Canada is the same in amount as provided for residents, except that dependents in a foreign country are limited to widow or widower and child or children, or if there is no widow or widower and child or children, to surviving father or mother whom the employee has supported, either wholly or in part, for a period of one year before the date of injury. The board, at its option, or upon the application of the insurance carrier, may commute all future installments of compensation to be paid to an alien dependent who is not a resident of the United States or Canada by paying or causing to be paid to the alien dependent one-half of the commuted amount of the future installments of compensation as determined by the board.

(e) Death benefits payable to a widow or widower in accordance with (a) of this section shall abate as that person ceases to be entitled and does not inure to persons subject to continued entitlement. In the event a child ceases to be entitled, that child’s share shall inure to the benefit of the surviving spouse subject to adjustment as provided in (f) of this section.

(f) Except as provided in (g) of this section, the death benefit payable to a widow or widower shall terminate 12 years following death of the deceased employee.

(g) The provisions of (f) of this section do not apply to a widow or widower who at the time of death of the deceased worker is permanently and totally disabled. The death benefits payable to a widow or widower are not subject to reduction under (f) of this section after the widow or widower has attained the age of 52 years.

(h) In the event a deceased worker is survived by children of a former marriage not living with the surviving widow or widower, then those children shall receive the amount being paid under a decree of child support; the difference between this amount and the maximum benefit payable under this section shall be distributed pro rata to the remainder of those entitled.

(i) In the event the total amount of all benefits computed under (a)(2) of this section exceeds the maximum benefit provided in AS 23.30.175, the maximum benefit under AS 23.30.175 shall be prorated among entitled survivors.

AS 23.30.225. Social Security and Pension or Profit Sharing Plan Offsets.  (a) When periodic retirement or survivors’ benefits are payable under 42 U.S.C. 401 - 433 (Title II, Social Security Act), the weekly compensation provided for in this chapter shall be reduced by an amount equal as nearly as practicable to one-half of the federal periodic benefits for a given week.

(b) When it is determined that, in accordance with 42 U.S.C. 401 - 433, periodic disability benefits are payable to an employee or the employee’s dependents for an injury for which a claim has been filed under this chapter, weekly disability benefits payable under this chapter shall be offset by an amount by which the sum of (1) weekly benefits to which the employee is entitled under 42 U.S.C. 401 - 433, and (2) weekly disability benefits to which the employee would otherwise be entitled under this chapter, exceeds 80 percent of the employee’s average weekly wages at the time of injury.

(c) If employer contributions to a qualified pension or profit sharing plan have been included in the determination of gross earnings and the employee is receiving pension or profit sharing payments, weekly compensation benefits payable under this chapter shall be reduced by the amount paid or payable to the injured worker under the plan for any week or weeks during which compensation benefits are also payable. The amount of the reduction may not in any week exceed the increase in weekly compensation benefits brought about by the inclusion of employer contributions to a qualified pension or profit sharing plan in the determination of gross earnings.

AS 23.30.255. Penalty for Failure to Pay Compensation.  (a) An employer required to secure the payment of compensation under this chapter who fails to do so is guilty of a class B felony if the amount involved exceeds $25,000 or a class C felony if the amount involved is $25,000 or less.  If the employer is a corporation, its president, secretary, and treasurer are also severally liable to the fine or imprisonment imposed for the failure of the corporation to secure the payment of compensation.  The president, secretary, and treasurer are severally personally liable, jointly with the corporation, for the compensation or other benefit which accrues under this chapter in respect to an injury which happens to an employee of the corporation while it has failed to secure the payment of compensation as required by AS 23.30.075. . . .

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.  In this chapter,

. . .

(19) ‘employee’ means an employee employed by an employer as defined in (20) of this section;

(20) ‘employer’ means the state or its political subdivision or a person employing one or more persons in connection with a business or industry coming within the scope of this chapter and carried on in this state. . . .

Before an employee-employer relationship exists under the Act, an express or implied contract of employment must exist.  Alaska Pulp Co. v. United Paperworkers Intern. Union, 791 P.2d 1008, 1010 (Alaska 1990).  Formation of such a contract generally requires mutual assent and consideration.  Alaska Pulp Co., 791 P.2d at 1010.  An important purpose underlying the contract of employment requirement is to avoid “thrust[ing] upon a worker an employee status to which he has never consented . . . [since doing so] might well deprive him of valuable rights. . . .”  Id. at 1011.

Employment generally begins after a meeting of the minds has been reached between the employee and the employer, for at that point a contract is formed.  Childs v. Kalgin Island Lodge, 779 P.2d 310, 313 (Alaska 1989).  Express contract formation requires an offer encompassing its essential terms, an unequivocal acceptance of the terms by the offeree, consideration and intent to be bound.  Childs, 779 P.2d at 314.  An implied employment contract is formed by a relationship resulting from “the manifestation of consent by one party to another that the other shall act on his behalf and subject to his control, and consent by the other so to act.”  Id.  An implied contract’s existence must be determined by considering all factors in light of the surrounding circumstances.  Cluff v. Nana-Marriott, 892 P.2d 164, 171 (Alaska 1995).  A claimant’s belief the claimant intended to work only for one party does not preclude the possibility an implied employment contract may have been formed between the claimant and another party.  Childs v. Tulin, 799 P.2d 1338, 1340 (Alaska 1990).
8 AAC 45.177. Claims against the workers’ compensation benefits guaranty fund.

…

(d) The fund is subject to the same claim procedures under the Act as all other parties.

(e) The fund may not be obligated to pay the injured worker’s claim unless the

(1) employee and employer stipulate to the facts of the case, including that the employee’s claim is compensable, which has the effect of an order under 8 AAC 45.050(f), or the board issues a determination and award of compensation; and 

(2) the employer defaults upon the payment of compensation for a period of 30 days after the compensation is due.

(f) In case of default by the employer in the payment of compensation due under an award and payment of the awarded compensation by the fund, the board shall issue a supplementary order of default.  The fund shall be subrogated to all the rights of the employee and may pursue collection of the defaulted payments under AS 23.30.170.

(g) In this section, ‘fund’ means the worker’s compensation benefits guaranty fund (AS 23.30.082 (a)).

8 AAC 45.890. Determining employee status.  For purposes of 
AS 23.30.395(19) and this chapter, the board will determine whether a person is an ‘employee’ based on the relative-nature-of-the-work test.  The test will include a determination under (1)-(6) of this section.  Paragraphs (1) and (2) of this section are the most important factors, and at least one of these two factors must be resolved in favor of an ‘employee’ status for the board to find that a person is an employee.  The board will consider whether the work 

(1) is a separate calling or business; if the person performing the services has the right to hire or terminate others to assist in the performance of the service for which the person was hired, there is an inference that the person is not an employee; if the employer 

(A) has the right to exercise control of the manner and means to accomplish the desired results, there is a strong inference of employee status; 

(B) and the person performing the services have the right to terminate the relationship at will, without cause, there is a strong inference of employee status;

(C) has the right to extensive supervision of the work then there is a strong inference of employee status;

(D) provides the tools, instruments, and facilities to accomplish the work and they are of substantial value, there is an inference of employee status; if the tools, instruments, and facilities to accomplish the work are not significant, no inference is created regarding the employment status;

(E) pays for the work on an hourly or piece rate wage rather than by the job, there is an inference of employee status; and

(F) and person performing the services entered into either a written or oral contract, the employment status the parties believed they were creating in the contract will be given deference; however, the contract will be construed in view of the circumstances under which it was made and the conduct of the parties while the job is being performed;

(2) is a regular part of the employer’s business or service; if it is a regular part of the employer’s business, there is an inference of employee status;

(3) can be expected to carry its own accident burden; this element is more important than (4)-(6) of this section; if the person performing the services is unlikely to be able to meet the costs of industrial accidents out of the payment for the services, there is a strong inference of employee status;

(4) involves little or no skill or experience; if so, there is an inference of employee status;

(5) is sufficient to amount to the hiring of continuous services, as distinguished from contracting for the completion of a particular job; if the work amounts to hiring of continuous services, there is an inference of employee status;

(6) is intermittent, as opposed to continuous; if the work is intermittent, there is a weak inference of no employee status.

The “relative-nature-of-the-work” test was adopted to distinguish between employees and independent contractors for determining whether an individual is an “employee,” and thus eligible for workers’ compensation benefits under the Act.  In determining whether a particular individual is an employee, the board must assess the totality of all the relevant circumstances surrounding the parties’ relationship.  Kroll v. Reeser, 655 P.2d 753 (Alaska 1982).  However, both relationships presuppose a contractual undertaking.  Therefore, absent a contract for hire, the board is not required to make this distinction.  Alaska Pulp Corp, 791 P.2d at 1008.
Larson’s Workers’ Compensation Law states in relevant part:

§ 61.03 Extent of Control of Details.  The rule here is best put negatively:  An owner, who wants to get work done without becoming an employer, is entitled to as much control of the details of the work as is necessary to ensure that he gets the end result from the contractor that he bargained for.  In other words, there may be a control of the quality or description of the work itself, as distinguished from control of the person doing it, without going beyond the independent contractor relation.

§ 61.06 Method of Payment.  Payment on a time basis is a strong indication of the status of employment.  Payment on a completed project basis is indicative of independent contractor status. . . .

§ 61.07 Who Furnishes Equipment.  When the employer furnishes valuable equipment, the relationship is almost invariably that of employment. . . . . In applying the test of who furnishes equipment, it is essential to bear in mind the rationale underlying the test.  When it is the employer who furnishes the equipment, the inference of right of control is a matter of common sense and business. The owner of a $10,000 truck who entrusts it to a driver is naturally going to dictate details such as speed, maintenance, and the like, in order to protect his or her investment.  Moreover, since there is capital tied up in this piece of equipment, the owner will also want to ensure that it is kept as productive and busy as possible.  For these reasons, it is not surprising that there seems to be no case on record in which the employer owned the truck but the driver was held to be an independent contractor. . . .

§ 62.02 Whether Work is Integral Part of Employer’s Business. . . .
. . .

(3) Transportation

Transportation, depending on the main business of the employer, may be ancillary or central to his operation. . . .  [W]hen the employer’s main business is transportation, farming out a portion of that business will often lead to a finding of employment. . . .

§ 63.03 Effect of Name Chosen by Parties.  
It is a truism that the name chosen by the parties to describe their relationship is ordinarily of very little importance as against the factual rights and duties they assume.  A plain statement that the parties intend the relationship of independent contractor and not employee is not entirely to be disregarded, however.  In a close case, it may swing the balance by aiding in establishing the true intent of the parties, and after all that intent is entitled to considerable respect if it can be accurately ascertained. . . .  [I]t is quite possible that the worker honestly does not want to be an employee; and paternalism should not be carried so far that the state says to him, “We do not care what you want; we think employee status with compensation protection is better for you.”

3 A. Larson, Larson’s Workers’ Compensation Law § 61-63 (2008).
ANALYSIS

1)  On July 12, 2009, was Yevgeniy Shastitko an “employee” employed by MTI, an “employer”?
Applying the AS 23.30.120 presumption analysis and without considering witness credibility, Claimants attached the presumption Yevgeniy Shastitko was MTI’s “employee” and MTI was his “employer,” at the time of Shastitko’s July 12, 2009 fatal accident.  This finding is based upon Anna Shastitko’s testimony Yevgeniy did not own his own truck, drove exclusively for MTI, and was not required to pay for fuel or truck maintenance and repairs.  Claimants further attached the presumption with evidence Yevgeniy Shastitko received W2s from MTI and had federal and state tax withheld, and continued to receive regular payments from MTI even after returning to 1099 status.  Claimants successfully established a “preliminary link” showing an employee-employer relationship between Shastitko and MTI, attaching the §120 presumption.

Once the presumption is raised, MTI must rebut the presumption with substantial evidence, which is viewed in isolation and without considering credibility.  Viktor and Valentina Misyuk’s testified Shastitko requested to return to 1099 status and Shastitko had the right to accept or reject specific driving jobs.  MTI decided in September 2007 to classify all drivers as independent contractors, and Shastitko identified himself as self-employed on his 2008 and 2009 tax returns.  All this is substantial evidence supporting MTI’s contention no employee-employer relationship existed at the time of the July 12, 2009 accident.  This is substantial evidence to rebut the §120 presumption and shift the burden to Claimants, who must prove their claim against MTI by a preponderance of the evidence.  Runstrom.

The “relative-nature-of-the-work” test was adopted to distinguish between “employees” and “independent contractors” for determining whether an individual is an “employee,” and thus eligible for workers’ compensation benefits under the Act.  Alaska Pulp Co., 791 P.2d at 1012.  However, both relationships presuppose a contractual undertaking.  Therefore, absent a contract for hire this distinction need not be made.  Id.  Thus, the first inquiry is whether or not there was an oral or written contract for hire, express or implied, for employment purposes or otherwise, between Yevgeniy Shastitko and MTI.  If there was no such agreement, the inquiry ends there and the relative-nature-of-the-work test need not be applied.

The parties do not dispute Shastitko and MTI entered into an express, oral contract hiring Shastitko as a regular MTI driver.  Shastitko had been driving for MTI regularly for several years before his death in 2009.  Because there was an express contract for hire between Shastitko and MTI, the next inquiry is to determine the status of their contractual relationship.  

The “relative nature of the work” test is applied to distinguish between employee and independent contractor status.  Alaska Pulp Co., 791 P.2d at 1012.  The “most important factors” in the test are 8 AAC 45.890(1) and (2).  At least one of these factors must be resolved in Shastitko’s favor to find he was MTI’s “employee” at the time of his death.  These first two factors are then considered in light of the remaining four.  

(1) Was Yevgeniy Shastitko’s work a separate calling or business; Did Yevgeniy Shastitko have the right to hire or terminate others at the time of the July 12, 2009 accident?

Shastitko held a commercial driver’s license and was an experienced truck driver.  However, he did not own his own truck and drove exclusively for MTI.  There is no evidence he held himself out to the public as an independent contractor available for hire by companies other than MTI.  Shastitko identified himself as “truck driver” on his Schedule C Profit and Loss statement for 2008 and 2009, but reported only income paid by MTI.  There is no evidence Shastitko had authority to hire or terminate others.  Viktor Misyuk testified Shastitko occasionally brought his family and his cousin Pavel on drives with him.  Anna Shastitko did not recall if Pavel ever accompanied Shastitko on his drives.  There was no evidence Shastitko ever paid Pavel or anyone else to help him on his drives.  There is no inference Shastitko was not MTI’s employee.  

A) Did MTI. have the right to exercise control over the manner and means to accomplish the desired result?

While neither Viktor nor Valentina Misyuk accompanied Shastitko on his regular driving trips, MTI retained control over the manner and means of completing the trips.  Viktor arranged with vendors the pickup places and times for loading goods.  Shastitko drove MTI’s truck, and MTI controlled all truck maintenance and repairs.  Viktor had spoken to Shastitko about speeding, indicating Viktor had authority over the way Shastitko drove.  As Professor Larson notes, when an employer furnishes equipment, “the inference of right of control is a matter of common sense and business.” MTI had the right to control the manner and means of accomplishing each driving trip Shastitko accepted.  This factor creates a strong inference of employee status.

B) Did MTI, Inc. and Yevgeniy Shastitko have the right to terminate the relationship at will, without cause?

There was little testimony or evidence concerning whether or not MTI and Shastitko had the right to terminate the relationship at will and without cause.  Based on the testimony at hearing and deposition, it is clear Shastitko had the right to refuse any driving job Viktor Misyuk offered to him, and Viktor Misyuk had a list of potential drivers to choose from and thus was not required to offer driving jobs to Shastitko.  The record is unclear on the question of once Viktor Misyuk offered a particular driving job to Shastitko and Shastitko agreed to perform it, whether either party could terminate the agreement that Shastitko would complete that particular driving job.  Thus, this factor does not create an inference employee status.

C) Did MTI have the right to extensive supervision of Yevgeniy Shastitko’s work?

Based on the evidence and testimony at hearing and deposition, once a driver accepted a particular driving job, there was little to no driver supervision.  Viktor Misyuk testified Shastitko often brought his wife and child along with him on driving jobs and numerous witnesses testified Shastitko may have asked his cousin Pavel to accompany him on some trips.  Viktor Misyuk testified this was “[Shastitko’s] business,” indicating Viktor had no preference for the manner Shastitko conducted his drives as long as he completed them within the required timeframe.  This factor does not create an inference of employee status.

D) Did MTI provide the tools, instruments, and facilities to accomplish Yevgeniy Shastitko’s work, are they are of substantial value, and are the tools, instruments and facilities to accomplish the work significant?

MTI provided the truck Shastitko drove, a company credit card for fuel, and secured liability insurance for the vehicle.  MTI paid for routine vehicle maintenance and any necessary repairs.  Shastitko was expected to manage his own log books and pay for his own cell phone and food.  He slept in the company vehicle on overnight trips.  As Professor Larson notes, “[when the employer furnishes valuable equipment, the relationship is almost invariably that of employment.”  MTI provided significantly valuable equipment for Shastitko’s use as its driver.  This factor creates an inference of employee status.

E) Did MTI pay for Yevgeniy Shastitko’s work on an hourly or piece rate wage rather than by the job?

MTI paid Shastitko bi-weekly in 2006 and throughout 2007 until September when MTI met and reclassified its drivers as “independent contractors.”  At that point MTI issued checks to Shastitko monthly for the remainder of 2007, for all of 2008, and for the months of January, February, May, June and July 2009, until his death in July.  While the checks identified specific jobs during each pay period and the parties agreed on payment on a per-trip basis, the evidence shows Yevgeniy Shastitko was one of MTI’s regular drivers and Shastitko could rely on regular job offers from Viktor Misyuk.  This creates an inference of employee status between Shastitko and MTI.
F) Did MTI and Yevgeniy Shastitko enter into a written or oral contract, and if so, what “employment status” did they believe they were creating?

The evidence shows Shastitko and MTI entered into an express oral contract for hire and Shastitko drove for MTI for several years before requesting to return to 1099 status for tax purposes.  MTI relies heavily on Shastitko’s 2008 and 2009 tax returns as evidence he considered himself self-employed and thus not MTI’s employee.  While tax status is certainly a factor to consider in determining whether specific parties believed they were entering into an employee-employer relationship, it is not definitive.  The totality of all relevant circumstances surrounding the parties’ relationship must be considered.  Kroll.
MTI elected in September 2007 to classify all its drivers as independent contractors.  Shastitko requested a 1099 rather than a W2 because he felt too much was withheld from his paychecks.  Valentina Misyuk testified when the decision was made in September 2007 to classify all the drivers as independent contractors, it did not change MTI’s day-to-day operations.  Shastitko worked consistently for MTI from 2006 until his death in 2009.  He received regular pay from MTI every month throughout that time except for March and April 2009.  Shastitko was considered one of MTI’s regular drivers, and while he may have turned down particular driving jobs, it is reasonable to infer both Viktor and Shastitko expected Shastitko would drive consistently and regularly for MTI in the near future.  

Valentina testified Shastitko asked Viktor to “please let me [drive] alone,” supporting an inference Shastitko believed Viktor had authority to dictate who participated in each trip.  Viktor spoke to Shastitko about his excessive speeding, which supports an inference Viktor had at least minimal disciplinary control over Shastitko. 

Anna Shastitko testified her husband “worked for MTI” exclusively.  He did not own his own truck and he never drove any truck other than one owned by MTI.  MTI contends Shastitko had other self-employment buying and reselling salvaged vehicles and caring for a disabled relative.  Anna disputes this assertion, but even assuming it is true, Shastitko working “side jobs” does not negate an employee-employer relationship between Shastitko and MTI.  

It is more likely than not Shastitko and Viktor and Valentina Misyuk believed Shastitko was an independent contractor.  While the panel must give deference to the parties’ intentions, the contract must be construed in view of the circumstances under which it was made and the conduct of the parties while the job was being performed.  It is clear Shastitko elected to declare self-employment and receive a 1099 rather than a W2 purely for financial purposes.  MTI elected to classify all its drivers as independent contractors for liability and financial reasons, though the election did not alter the way the business was operated.  Shastitko was an independent contractor by name only.  Assessing the totality of all the relevant circumstances surrounding the parties’ relationship, MTI and Yevgeniy Shastitko created an employee-employer relationship.
Of the six factors considered in the first prong of the relative-nature-of-the-work test, four factors create an inference of employee status.  Consequently, on balance, this of the two most important factors of the test is resolved in favor of finding an employee-employer relationship between Shastitko and MTI.

(2) Were Yevgeniy Shastitko’s services a regular part of MTI business or service?

This is the second of the two “most important factors” in the test.  MTI’s business was long and short-distance commercial trucking.  Shastitko served as one of MTI’s regular drivers.  There is no question truck driving was a regular an integral part of MTI’s business.  As Professor Larson states, “when the employer’s main business is transportation, farming out a portion of that business will often lead to a finding of employment. . . .”  This factor creates a strong inference of employee status.  As this is one of the two “most important factors,” this inference is significant.  

(3) Can Yevgeniy Shastitko be expected to carry his own accident burden?

No direct evidence or testimony was introduced at hearing concerning whether Shastitko could be expected to carry his own accident burden.  There was testimony MTI carried liability insurance on its trucks, including the truck Shastitko drove.  Further, Shastitko drove exclusively for MTI and there was no evidence he presented himself to the public as available to drive for companies other than MTI.  His self-employment designation as “truck driver” on his 2008 and 2009 tax returns is not sufficient to find Shastitko had a separate calling or independent business for which he would be expected to carry accident insurance.  Finally, while there was no testimony on the cost of liability or workers’ compensation insurance relative to the work Shastitko did for MTI, the panel takes official notice such policies are not inexpensive, and from 2006 until his death in 2009, the most Shastitko earned annually was $33,106.78 in 2008.  Because Shastitko would be unlikely to meet the costs of industrial accidents out of MTI’s payment for his services, there is a strong inference of employee status.
(4) Did Yevgeniy Shastitko’s work involve little or no skill or experience?

Yevgeniy Shastitko’s work for MTI required a commercial driver’s license and associated training and upkeep for his license.  Viktor Misyuk testified MTI maintained the truck and arranged all repairs and servicing for the trucks.  Because drivers were required to have commercial driver’s license and knowledge of codes and regulations specific to commercial driving, this factor does not create an inference of employee status between Shastitko and MTI.

(5) Was the employment agreement sufficient to amount to the hiring of continuous services, as distinguished from contracting for the completion of a particular job?

While there was considerable testimony Shastitko was free to turn down particular driving jobs Viktor Misyuk offered him, and he in fact did turn down some jobs when he wished to stay closer to home, the records reflect Shastitko worked consistently for MTI from 2006 until his death.  He was one of MTI’s “regular drivers,” and drove for no other company.  Viktor Misyuk testified there was no expectation after the completion of each job a driver agreed to do that he would complete a future job.  However, in Shastitko’s case, it is reasonable to infer given he was the only driver who had previously been on W-2 status and the fact he drove regularly for MTI for several years Shastitko and Viktor Misyuk expected Shastitko would have continual work for MTI.  This factor creates an inference of employee status.

(6) Was the employment intermittent, as opposed to continuous?

Shastitko’s work for MTI was regular and consistent, though there were breaks in between his driving jobs.  Shastitko received payment for driving jobs bi-weekly for all of 2006; bi-weekly from January 2007 to September 2007 when he went to 1099 status, at which point he continued to receive payments for the remaining months in 2007; 12 months in 2008; and five of the seven months in 2009 before his death in July.  Anna Shastitko testified MTI was the only company Yevgeniy drove for.  The Misyuks considered Shastitko to be one of their regular drivers, and though each driving job was agreed upon individually, it is reasonable to infer the parties expected at the completion of each job there would be future work for Shastitko.  The employment was not intermittent, which supports an inference of employee status.

Application of the relative-nature-of-the-work test, as codified at 8 AAC 45.890 demonstrates it is more likely than not an employee-employer relationship existed between Yevgeniy Shastitko and MTI.  Claimants have proven by a preponderance of the evidence Shastitko was an “employee” and MTI an “employer,” as defined at AS 23.30.395(19) and (20) on July 12, 2009.

2)   Are Konstantin Misyuk, Viktor Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev jointly and severally liable with MTI for all benefits payable arising from the July 12, 2009 accident?

Having found Yevgeniy Shastitko was MTI’s employee at the time of his death, this decision now considers whether Konstantin Misyuk, Viktor Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev are jointly and severally liable with MTI for any benefits payable as a result of the July 12, 2009 accident.

MTI contends Konstantin Misyuk and Elena Misyuk were officers “in name only,” and only served to help their parents with translation and occasional tasks where English was necessary.  AS 23.30.255 states when an employer corporation fails to provide workers’ compensation insurance, the corporate president, secretary and treasurer are personally, jointly, and severally liable together with the corporation for all compensation and benefits due as a result of the work incident.  Here, regardless of who carried out MTI’s day-to-day business operations, Konstantin Misyuk, Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev were listed as MTI’s corporate president, secretary and treasurer, respectively, at the time of Yevgeniy’s Shastitko’s death.  While they were young adults when designated as corporate officers, neither Konstantin nor Elena contended they were legally incompetent.  Konstantin became an apprentice wireman and eventually a journeyman.  Elena obtained a business degree.  In any event, at the time of Yevgeniy Shastitko’s death, Konstantin was 28 years old and had been married for six years.  Elena was married, had moved to South Carolina and established a new trucking business for her parents.  There is no question they were competent adults and capable of serving as corporate officers.  They may not have played a strong active role in the corporation, but the statute’s plain language mandates Konstantin Misyuk, Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev and Valentina Misyuk are each jointly and severally liable together with MTI for all compensation and benefits payable arising out of the July 12, 2009 accident.

AS 23.30.075(b) states when an employer corporation fails to provide workers’ compensation insurance, “all persons who, at the time of the injury or death, had authority to insure the corporation or apply for a certificate of self-insurance, and the person actively in charge of the business of the corporation” are personally, jointly, and severally liable together with the corporation for all compensation and benefits due as a result of the work incident.  As discussed above, Konstantin Misyuk, Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev, and Valentina Misyuk are jointly and severally liable with MTI under AS 23.30.255.  However, as Viktor Misyuk was corporate vice president, an officer not listed in that section, he is not liable under that statute.  The fund contends Viktor Misyuk is jointly and severally liable under AS 23.30.075(b), as he had authority to insure MTI and was actively in charge of MTI’s business at the time of Yevgeniy’s death.  Viktor Misyuk admitted he was in charge of selecting which driving jobs MTI took on and finding drivers to complete each job.  He managed truck maintenance and negotiated with vendors.  The testimony at hearing and deposition makes clear MTI was co-owned by Viktor and Valentina and Viktor was an integral part of MTI’s day-to-day operations. He had check signing authority and was a corporate officer since MTI’s inception.  He is jointly and severally liable with MTI for payment of all compensation and benefits payable as a result of the July 12, 2009 accident.

3) Are Claimants entitled to death benefits?  If so, in what amount?

Having found Yevgeniy Shastitko was MTI’s employee at the time of his death, this decision must next determine what if any benefits arising from that accident are due to Claimants.  MTI and the fund do not dispute Yevgeniy Shastitko left a widow and two minor children.  Velma Thomas presented a proposed compensation report estimating past benefits due of $78,500.00.  While this evidence was uncontested at hearing, Ms. Thomas testified this amount is only an estimate, and may be subject to cost-of-living adjustments depending on where Ms. Shastitko and her children were living in the periods following Yevgeniy’s death.  There was not sufficient evidence presented at hearing for the panel to accurately calculate benefits owed to Claimants.  MTI will be ordered to pay Claimants death benefits in accordance with AS 23.30.215, subject to any statutory offset for Social Security benefits received by the beneficiaries, per AS 23.30.225.  Jurisdiction will be reserved to resolve any disputes concerning calculation.  The parties are encouraged to work together to determine the specific amount owed to Claimants per the Act.

4) Is Thompson entitled to payment for its services? 

Thompson filed an invoice along with its claim totaling $5,185.06 in funeral services provided for Yevgeniy Shastitko.  MTI and the fund do not contest the invoice.  Having found Yevgeniy Shastitko was MTI’s employee when he died, this decision applies AS 23.30.215, which provides MTI is responsible for payment of reasonable and necessary funeral expenses.  However, at the time of Shastitko’s death in 2009, AS 23.30.215(a)(1) required employers to pay funeral expenses not exceeding $5,000.00.  MTI will be ordered to pay Thompson $5,000.00 in reasonable and necessary funeral expenses.

5) Are Claimants entitled to an attorney’s fee and cost award?  If so, in what amount?

 In making fee awards, the law requires consideration of the nature, length and complexity of the professional services performed on behalf of the claimant, as well as the benefits resulting from those services.  An award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings, and fully but reasonably compensate attorneys for services performed on issues for which the claimant prevails.

Claimants retained counsel who successfully obtained valuable benefits for them, namely a finding of an employee-employer relationship between Yevgeniy Shastitko and MTI and the benefits arising therefrom, including significant death benefits, funeral expenses, and interest.  Claimants incurred legal fees and costs.  They are entitled to a fee and cost award under 
AS 23.30.145(b). 

Claimants’ counsel has specialized in the area of workers’ compensation law for many years, and has represented employees at numerous hearings.  He provided a verified attorney fee itemization billed at $300.00 per hour, for a requested attorney fee award totaling $38,403.00.  He filed a cost itemization totaling $5,239.87.  Counsel seeks payment for his actual fees and costs totaling $43,642.87.  

Neither MTI nor the fund contest the time expended by Employee’s counsel or his hourly rate.  The fund raises three objections to his itemized travel costs.  First, the fund objects to the cost of Mr. Beconovich’s travel to South Carolina for the Misyuks’ depositions in July 2010, as his airfare exceeded the fund’s counsel’s airfare by $1,000.  However, Mr. Beconovich in his sworn affidavit stated the claimed cost accurately reflects the actual cost of air travel from Fairbanks to Atlanta.  That it was more than Ms. Steinberger’s airfare from Anchorage to Atlanta is not relevant.  The fund next objects to Mr. Beconovich’s travel to Portland to consult with “Rasskazova.”  However, as explained in his reply to the fund’s opposition, Rasskazova is a Russian speaking attorney with whom Ms. Shastitko consulted shortly after Yevgeniy’s death.  It was reasonable for her new counsel to consult with her prior attorney.  Finally, the fund objects to travel costs for Mr. Beconovich to meet in person with Anna Shastitko in Vancouver, Washington.  However, as explained in his reply and as was evident at hearing, Ms. Shastitko has very limited English, and given the volume of documents for review and production in this case, it was reasonable for her to meet in person with her attorney.  Mr. Beconovich’s claimed fees and costs will not be reduced.   

Based on Employee’s counsel’s efforts and success in this case, his years of experience, the contingent nature of workers’ compensation cases, and recent awards to attorneys similarly situated, an hourly rate of $300.00 is reasonable here, as are the itemized costs.  Claimants are entitled to an award of actual fees and costs of $43,642.87.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) On July 12, 2009, Yevgeniy Shastitko was an “employee” employed by MTI, an “employer.”

2) Konstantin Misyuk, Viktor Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev are jointly and severally liable with MTI for all benefits payable arising from the July 12, 2009 accident.

3) Claimants are entitled to payment of death benefits, calculated per AS 23.30.215.  In accordance with AS 23.30.225, benefits shall be offset by any Social Security benefits paid to the beneficiaries.
4) Thompson is entitled to payment for its services in accordance with this decision.

5) Claimants are entitled to an attorney’s fee and cost award in accordance with this decision.

ORDERS

1) Claimants’ December 2, 2009 claim for death benefits is granted.
2) Thompson’s May 26, 2011 claim for payment for services is granted in part.
3) MTI, Konstantin Misyuk, Viktor Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk, and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev shall pay to Claimants death benefits and associated interest at the statutory rate, in accordance with AS 23.30.215.  Death benefits are subject to a Social Security offset per 
AS 23.30.215.  Jurisdiction is reserve to resolve any calculation disputes.
4) MTI, Konstantin Misyuk, Viktor Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk, and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev shall pay $5,000 in reasonable and necessary funeral expenses to Thompson.
5) MTI, Konstantin Misyuk, Viktor Misyuk, Valentina Misyuk, and Elena (Misyuk) Medvedev shall pay $43,642.87 in attorney’s fees and costs.

Dated in Fairbanks, Alaska this 19 day of March, 2013.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission. 

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the board and all other parties to the proceedings before the board.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier.  AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken. 
AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of YEVGENIY SHASTITKO, deceased employee; ANNA SHASTITKO, SIMON SHASTITKO, and RADIMIR SHASTITKO, applicants v. MTI, INC., KONSTANTIN MISYUK, VIKTOR MISYUK, VALENTINA MISYUK, and ELENA (MISYUK) MEDVEDEV, uninsured respondents;  WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BENEFITS GUARANTY FUND, insurer / respondents; Case No. 200913721; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Fairbanks, Alaska, and served upon the parties this 19 day of March, 2013.
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